



SINGAPORE LEGAL

GUIDE

FOOD DONATION LAW AND POLICY

Authors

This report was written by the following staff and students at the Harvard Law School Food Law and Policy Clinic (FLPC): Ariel Ardura, Regan Plekenpol, and Emily M. Broad Leib.

Acknowledgements

We are grateful to The Global FoodBanking Network (GFN) whose input, ideas, and expertise informed much of our research. This report was also made possible by the advice and support of our on-site partners in Guatemala, with whom we discussed the ideas provided here, including Singapore Food Bank and Quahe Woo and Palmer LLC, and many other NGOs, businesses, and government agencies.

About The Global Food Donation Policy Atlas

The Global Food Donation Policy Atlas is a first-of-its-kind initiative to promote better laws on food donation to help address food loss and food insecurity. This project maps the laws affecting food donation in countries across the globe in order to help practitioners understand national laws relating to food donation, compare laws across countries and regions, analyze legal questions and barriers to donation, and share best practices and recommendations for overcoming these barriers. The project is a collaboration between Harvard Law School Food Law and Policy Clinic and The Global FoodBanking Network. To learn about and compare the food donation laws and policies for the countries FLPC has researched to date, visit atlas.foodbanking.org.

About the Harvard Law School Food Law and Policy Clinic

FLPC serves partner organizations and communities by providing guidance on cutting-edge food system legal and policy issues, while engaging law students in the practice of food law and policy. FLPC focuses on increasing access to healthy foods; supporting sustainable food production and food systems; and reducing waste of healthy, wholesome food. For more information, visit www.chlpi.org/FLPC.



About The Global FoodBanking Network

GFN is an international non-profit organization that nourishes the world's hungry through uniting and advancing food banks in more than 40 countries. GFN focuses on combating hunger and preventing food waste by providing expertise, directing resources, sharing knowledge and developing connections that increase efficiency, ensure food safety, and help food banks reach more people facing hunger. For more information visit www.foodbanking.org.



Made Possible with Support from the Walmart Foundation

The research included in this report was made possible through funding by the Walmart Foundation. The findings, conclusions, and recommendations presented in this report are those of Harvard Law School Food Law and Policy Clinic alone, and do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the Walmart Foundation.



Report design by Najeema Holas-Huggins.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction	1
Purpose of this Guide	
State of Food Insecurity, Food Loss, Waste, and Recovery in Singapore	2
Overview of Singapore's Food Donation Legal Framework	4
National Food Laws	
Sale of Food Act	4
Singapore Food Agency Act	5
Other Relevant National Law	5
Legal Issues Relevant to Food Donation	5
Food Safety for Donations	5
Date Labeling	6
Liability Protection for Food Donations	7
Civil Liability: Tort	8
Civil Liability: Contract	8
Criminal Liability Under the Singapore Penal Code	8
Taxes	8
Incentives	9
Barriers	9
Donation Requirements or Food Waste Penalties	10
Government Grants and Incentives	10
Conclusion	11

INTRODUCTION.

Purpose of this Guide

Food loss and waste is one of the greatest food system challenges that we face today. An estimated one-third of food produced globally is ultimately lost or wasted along the supply chain; this amounts to approximately 1.3 billion tons of food each year that ends up in the landfill. Food loss or waste occurs at every stage of the food system: during the initial harvest due to low market prices, because of high labor costs and demand for perfect-looking produce; by grocery stores and restaurants overestimating customer demands; and by consumers who engage in inefficient shopping and cooking practices and lack a clear understanding about date labels.

These behaviors have significant environmental, economic, and social consequences: food that is ultimately lost or wasted has a huge carbon footprint of 3.3 gigatons,⁴ using roughly 28% of agricultural land⁵ and accounting for 8%, or 70 billion tons, of total global greenhouse gas emissions.⁶ Collectively, this damage costs approximately US\$940 billion per year.⁷ Meanwhile, more than 820 million people are undernourished and one in nine is food insecure.⁸ The international community has sought to address this paradox and mobilize the reduction of food waste, especially within the framework of the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development and Sustainable Development Goal 12.3.⁹

In many countries, food donation has emerged as a popular and logical solution to redirect safe, surplus food destined for landfills into the hands of those who need it most. Most food donations are facilitated through food banks or other charitable, nongovernmental organizations that recover surplus, wholesome food and redirect it to local beneficiary agencies (such as soup kitchens, shelters, and community pantries) to feed low-income, food-insecure persons. As food insecurity, food loss, and food waste continue to rise, new, innovative models of food recovery have emerged around the world.

However, uncertainty surrounds the laws and regulations most relevant to food donation. To help address the most pressing questions, the Harvard Law School Food Law and Policy Clinic (FLPC) and The Global FoodBanking Network (GFN) have partnered to create The Global Food Donation Policy Atlas. ¹⁰ This innovative partnership maps the laws and policies affecting donations in 14 countries over the course of two years. The project aims to identify and explain national laws relating to food donation, analyze the most common legal barriers to promoting greater food donation, and share best practices and recommendations for overcoming these barriers.

THE PROJECT AIMS TO IDENTIFY AND EXPLAIN NATIONAL LAWS RELATING TO FOOD DONATION, ANALYZE THE MOST COMMON LEGAL BARRIERS TO PROMOTING GREATER FOOD DONATION, AND SHARE BEST PRACTICES AND RECOMMENDATIONS FOR OVERCOMING THESE BARRIERS.

This Legal Guide focuses on Singapore, where the amount of food wasted has increased by 20% over the past 10 years. In 2019, 744,000 tons of food waste was generated. FLPC and GFN, in collaboration with partners in Singapore, developed this resource to help food donors, food banks, and other intermediaries (hereinafter collectively referred to as "food recovery organizations") understand the relevant legal frameworks that impact food waste and donation efforts. This Legal Guide also serves as a resource for those in other countries that are looking to inform their own food donation laws and policies.

After providing initial commentary on food loss and recovery in Singapore, this Legal Guide provides an overview of the legal frameworks most relevant to food donation at the national and local levels. The subsequent sections look closely at the laws generally applicable to food donation: food safety laws and regulations, food date labeling laws, "Good Samaritan" or liability protection laws, tax incentives for food donation and/or tax

policy disincentives, and waste diversion laws that penalize food waste or require recovery. The extent to which Singapore has developed and subsequently implemented these legal frameworks compared to other countries may vary.

State of Food Insecurity, Food Loss, Waste, and Recovery in Singapore

Singapore residents enjoy a relatively affordable supply of readily available food. In the 2019 edition of the Economist Intelligence Unit's Global Food Security Index, which was published prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, Singapore ranked first as the most food-secure nation in the world. It excelled in the categories of "affordability," "availability," and "quality and safety of food," ranking 2nd, 2nd, and 25th respectively. Singapore achieved this standard of security despite more than 90% of its food being imported.

Only around two square kilometers (200ha) of land was used for land-based food farms in 2019, occupying less than 1% of Singapore's total land area. Due to the import-reliant nature of Singapore's food supply, diversification is a major priority. Singapore sources food from more than 170 countries, which totaled S\$15.57 billion (US\$10.9 billion) of imports in 2014.

To ensure and secure the future supply of food in Singapore, the Singapore Food Agency (SFA) uses three main strategies: (1) diversify import sources, (2) grow local, and (3) grow overseas. The second strategy works in conjunction with SFA's ambitious goal of meeting 30% of Singapore's nutritional needs with local produce by year 2030 through giving S\$30 million in grants to local producers. Over the past five years, S\$38 million from the Agriculture Productivity Fund has been committed to support about 100 farms in their efforts to raise productivity and build resilience against climate change. Another S\$144 million from the National Research Foundation has been committed to fund agrifood research. Singapore recently released a new packaging seal to help consumers identify local produce to support local farms.

The average Singapore household has a relatively high gross domestic product (GDP) per capita (US\$64,581.94 in 2018). With no tariffs on food, food expenditures are a relatively small part of household budgets—less than 10% by government statistics. This compares with neighboring countries in which household expenditures on food are between 30% and 45% of household incomes. Despite the relative affordability of food in Singapore, reports suggest that approximately 1 in 10 Singaporeans experience food insecurity. While Singapore's gross domestic output outranks that of developed economies like Germany and the United States in some measures, the wealth gap is among the widest in advanced economies in Asia after Hong Kong. Singapore's welfare system is housed under the Ministry of Social and Family Development and covers childhood education, transportation subsidies for disabled individuals, and medical care assistance for elderly citizens. While programs such as ComCare distribute funds for those in need, Singapore does not have a specific governmental food assistance program.

FOOD WASTE IS ONE OF THE BIGGEST WASTE STREAMS IN SINGAPORE, AND THE AMOUNT OF FOOD WASTE GENERATED HAS GROWN BY AROUND 20% OVER THE LAST 10 YEARS.

At the same time, food loss and waste represent major social challenges in Singapore. According to the National Environment Agency (NEA), food waste is one of the biggest waste streams in Singapore, and the amount of food waste generated has grown by around 20% over the last 10 years.²⁷ In 2019 Singapore generated around 744 million kilograms of food waste. That is equivalent to two bowls of rice per person per day for the entire year or the size of about 51,000 double-decker buses.²⁸ Food waste makes up roughly half of the average 1.5 kilograms of waste generated by each household in Singapore every day.²⁹ A study conducted by Singapore's Environment Council in partnership with Deloitte found that much of this food loss (393,000 tons) is happening

"upstream" (production) and "midstream" (processing and transportation) due to "poor disease and pest management; over importation of food items; cosmetic standards; fragmented cold chain management; and inadequate infrastructure," among other drivers. Importantly, the study specifically notes that the lack of "provision that protects entities from liabilities when they donate food to charity" as one of the key midstream drivers and recommends introducing "policies to safeguard entities from liabilities. Turther, the study notes drivers of "downstream" waste, which include confusion around expiry date labels among consumers, lack of penalty for improper disposal, and "limited policies to encourage redistribution. The study proposes that adopting clearer definitions or adjusting the labeling scheme, introducing policies to discourage food waste disposal and incineration, and facilitating increased donation of unsold foods (e.g., from hotels, restaurants, and cafeterias) will be effective mitigators of food loss and waste in Singapore.

Singapore by the Numbers			
Population 5,703,569	Global Hunger Index Not measured	World Bank Classification High income	
Median Age 42.2 years	Global Food Security Index 87.4	Human Development Index 0.938	
GDP US\$372.1 billion	GINI Index Not measured	FLW Estimates 763,000 tons	
Poverty Rate	Food Sustainability Index Not measured		

The Singapore government strongly emphasizes reducing food loss and waste as part of its dedication to national food security and overall sustainability initiative. Guidance from the official "Towards Zero Waste" government campaign outlines Singapore's goal to reduce the amount of waste (per capita) sent to landfills 30% by 2030 on top of an existing target to achieve a 70% overall recycling rate by 2030.³⁴ The government is focused on reaching this goal by trimming the percentage of food spoiled and by recycling the by-products. For example, the Singapore government enacted the Resource Sustainability Act in 2019 to address food waste by mandating that large commercial and industrial food waste generators develop the infrastructure for on-site waste treatment.³⁵ To date, the focus has been more on food waste treatment and repurposing than on using food donation as a strategy to keep safe, edible food in the food stream to alleviate food insecurity in Singapore.

THE SINGAPORE GOVERNMENT STRONGLY EMPHASIZES REDUCING FOOD LOSS AND WASTE AS PART OF ITS DEDICATION TO NATIONAL FOOD SECURITY AND OVERALL SUSTAINABILITY INITIATIVE. HOWEVER, TO DATE, THE FOCUS HAS BEEN MORE ON FOOD WASTE TREATMENT AND REPURPOSING THAN ON USING FOOD DONATION AS A STRATEGY TO KEEP SAFE, EDIBLE FOOD IN THE FOOD STREAM TO ALLEVIATE FOOD INSECURITY IN SINGAPORE.

Scaling up current agency operations to divert food waste and investing in new solutions to hunger and food waste require recognizing and understanding the laws that apply to food donation. The remaining sections of this Legal Guide provide an overview of Singapore's food donation legal framework and address the issues most likely to arise for food donors, food recovery organizations, policymakers, and other interested stakeholders.

OVERVIEW OF SINGAPORE'S FOOD DONATION LEGAL FRAMEWORK ____

A former British colony, Singapore gained independence in 1965, and its legal system is based on English common law.³⁶ The constitution comprises the fundamental principles and basic framework for the three organs of state: (1) the executive, which consists of the president, prime minister, and other ministers responsible for government affairs and accountable to the Singaporean Parliament; (2) the legislature, which consists of the president and Parliament with its legislative authority responsible for enacting legislation; and (3) the judiciary, which comprises the various courts of law that operate independently of the executive and legislature.³⁷ As a small island nation, all power of law is central to the national government.

Major areas of law such as contract and tort law are judge-made common law. However, other areas of law (e.g., property, criminal, company, and family law) are governed primarily by statutes.³⁸ Singapore's law is founded on four pillars: constitution, legislation, subsidiary legislation, and legal decisions made by judges.³⁹ Subsidiary legislation, or subordinate legislation, consists of written laws made by ministers or other administrative agencies such as government departments and statutory boards under the authority of a statute (called the "parent" act or statute), not directly by Parliament.⁴⁰ Otherwise, legislation, or statutory laws, are enacted by the Parliament.⁴¹

The Singaporean Parliament is unicameral. It comprises 93 elected members (MPs) as well as two appointed nonconstituency members (NCMPs) and nine nominated members (NMPs).⁴²

National Food Laws

Sale of Food Act

The Sale of Food Act (SOFA) was first enacted in 1973 and most recently revised in 2005.⁴³ This Act is the primary food legislation in Singapore. It regulates food for sale to ensure it is safe and suitable for human consumption and to promote public health. It also mandates the provision of "information relating to food to enable consumers to make informed choices and [to prevent] misleading conduct in connection with the sale of food."⁴⁴ SOFA governs national food safety, manufacturing, processing, distribution, sale, and import/export. It also mandates the licensing of nonretail food businesses (such as manufacturing or processing plants)⁴⁵ by the Director General under Part IV. SOFA contains provisions prohibiting the adulteration of foods; restricting the use of food additives or processing aids; prohibiting misleading or deceptive advertising, labeling, and unfair trade practices; and prohibiting the import, advertising, or sale of food that is substandard, unsafe, or misbranded. In particular, because Singapore is an import-reliant nation, imported food is also subject to requirements to ensure the food is safe and suitable for human consumption and to support a secure and reliable supply of imported food in Singapore. Requirements include keeping records of the source, traceability, and handling of imported food.⁴⁶ Noncompliance with or violation of the food safety provisions within SOFA may lead to monetary penalties not exceeding S\$10,000, to imprisonment for a term not exceeding 12 months, or both.⁴⁷

THE SALE OF FOOD ACT REGULATES FOOD FOR SALE TO ENSURE IT IS SAFE AND SUITABLE FOR HUMAN CONSUMPTION AND TO PROMOTE PUBLIC HEALTH.

SOFA applies to those holding a food business license, proprietors of food businesses or food premises, manufacturers, importers, exporters, or persons in the business of selling or supplying (wholesale or retail) any food or food contact article.⁴⁸ Under Section 2B(1), SOFA defines "food business" to include food production,

sale, or handling "regardless of whether the business, undertaking or activity concerned is of a commercial, charitable or community nature." Under Section 2E(3)(b), SOFA states when defining the meaning of "sell" that "food that is donated for a charitable or benevolent purpose is *not to be taken* to be food that was given away for the purpose of advertisement or in furtherance of trade or business." As such, charitable food donation is considered "food business" but donated food is not considered under the definition of "sell." SOFA does not include any further specific provisions for donated foods.

The Food Regulations, promulgated under SOFA, regulate food labeling requirements, nutrition panels, acceptable claims and marketing, date marking, and registration of imported foods.⁵¹ In addition, the Food Regulations govern food additives and permissible levels of contamination in food.⁵² The Singapore Food Agency (SFA) is responsible for enforcing the Food Regulations under SOFA.

Singapore Food Agency Act

The Singapore Food Agency Act of 2019 formed SFA to consolidate all food-related functions, then carried out by the Agri-Food and Veterinary Authority of Singapore (AVA), National Environment Agency (NEA), and the Health Sciences Authority (HSA).⁵³ Prior to the creation of SFA, NEA produced much of the government guidance on food waste and donation. SFA supports the regulation and production of all food in Singapore, from produce to animal feed, to ensure a safe food supply that promotes public health and keeps consumers adequately informed. This mandate to minimize food safety risks includes monitoring the processing and handling of food across the supply chain and regulating hygiene and operating procedures of premises, vehicles, and equipment used for handling and supplying food.⁵⁴ SFA also regulates street hawking, trade fairs, fisheries, agribiotechnology, agrotechnology, and food biotechnology.⁵⁵ Education initiatives, personnel training, and public information campaigns are also in SFA's purview, with the aim to increase public and industry awareness of food supply resilience, food safety, food standards, and food labels across all food verticals. SFA also covers food import, requiring that all foods imported into Singapore comply with Singapore's food standards.⁵⁶

In addition, SFA advises the government on matters relating to the food industry;⁵⁷ represents the government internationally on matters relating to fisheries, food businesses, food safety, or food supply;⁵⁸ collects, compiles, and analyzes data about food and publishes those results;⁵⁹ and promotes and undertakes new research.⁶⁰

Other Relevant National Law

Other important legislation includes (1) the Singapore Penal Code, which houses Singapore's substantive criminallaw; [1] the Consumer Protection (Fair Trading) Act under the Competition and Consumer Commission Singapore (CCS), [62] which protects consumers against unfair practices and gives them additional rights in respect to goods that do not conform to contract; and (3) the Income Tax Act, [63] which sets out the structure for income taxes in Singapore.

LEGAL ISSUES RELEVANT TO FOOD DONATION _____

Food Safety for Donations

In many countries, a key barrier to the donation of surplus food is the lack of knowledge or readily available guidance regarding safety procedures for food donation. All donated food should be safe for consumption

and comply with applicable food safety laws and regulations. Potential donors, however, are often uncertain about which food safety regulations apply to donated food as opposed to purchased food and about the steps necessary to safely donate food in compliance with applicable regulations. As a result, safe, surplus food that could have been redirected to populations in need is instead sent to landfills.

As previously discussed, in Singapore the Sale of Food Act is the statute that lays out all national food safety standards and is applicable to any entity that is a licensee of a food business, proprietor of a food business or food premises, manufacturer, importer, exporter, or person in the business of selling or supplying (wholesale or retail) any food or food contact article. SFA is responsible for setting additional rules and standards under SOFA and enforcing the act. Under SOFA, SFA issued the Food Regulations, which seek to ensure that food imported and sold is safe and suitable for human consumption; to promote public health; and to prevent the sale of food that is unsafe, adulterated, or has misleading information.⁶⁴

Charitable organizations supplying food without profiting are also regulated under SOFA because the act explicitly applies to the supply of food without monetary consideration. Under SOFA, the definition of "sell" includes: (a) the supplying of food, whether or not for consideration, in the course of providing services to patients, children, or individuals in the care and custody of the supplier and prisoners or inmates; ⁶⁵ (b) the supplying of anything of which food forms a part; ⁶⁶ and (c) bartering. ⁶⁷ SOFA further clarifies that "food business" can include businesses, undertakings, or activities of a charitable or community nature. ⁶⁸ Conversations with stakeholders also suggest that SOFA should be interpreted as applying to donated food.

However, no written law sets out any specific or differentiated requirements or regulations that apply to food donation. Nevertheless, the Singapore government issued guidance on food safety for food donations in 2016 titled "Guidelines on Food Donation" under NEA to clarify food safety standards for the procurement, processing, and distribution of donated food.⁶⁹ The Guidelines state that provisions must be adhered to by nongovernmental organizations, food and beverage retail establishments, and food manufactures that are: (a) donating/collecting and redistributing prepackaged and perishable food items, (b) preparing and cooking food, and/or (c) transporting donated food to recipients. The Guidelines also state that food banks or food recovery organizations should not accept donated food after the expiration date and should have specific food safety instructions on when to discard food.⁷⁰ SFA has overseen food safety since its advent in 2019. Accordingly, SFA may reissue updated Guidelines or further guidance in the near future.

The Guidelines on Food Donation outline the responsibilities of donors and food recovery organizations. Donors must ensure that donated food is in good condition and properly labeled. They must inform recipients of the measures they should take to ensure the food is safe for consumption. Additionally, donors must ensure the donated food is held at safe food temperatures and transported within the shortest amount of time possible. Food recovery organizations that receive the donated food are responsible for checking the condition of the food upon receipt and should request information on the safety measures required to ensure safe consumption if that information is not available. The Guidelines do not specifically address penalties if the donor or recipient is noncompliant. However, they do state that the Guidelines are intended to assist actors in complying with the law set forth by the Food Regulations. Individual food recovery organizations may implement the Guidelines from NEA as they see fit in their internal operations. Yet there does not appear to be any data on which organizations are following the Guidelines and to what extent.

Date Labeling

Date labels affixed to food products are a major driver of food waste and an obstacle to food donation. As explained in the previous section, most food donors and food recovery organizations are appropriately cautious about donating food that meets safety standards, but it is not always clear which standards relate to food safety. And, while fresh products like fruits and vegetables will appear visibly spoiled when they are no longer safe to consume, it can be more difficult to gauge when this is the case for packaged foods. Many donors interpret date labels affixed to such food products as indicators of safety and will therefore throw away food once the

"expiration date" has passed; intermediaries may refuse to accept donated food after this date, deeming the food product unfit for human consumption.

Despite this interpretation, for the vast majority of foods, date labels indicate freshness or quality rather than food safety. Manufacturers use a variety of quality-based methods to determine the time frame for label dates, all of which are intended to reflect when the food will be at its "peak quality."⁷⁴ Nevertheless, global trends indicate that consumers generally confuse date labels as indicators of safety rather than quality. In the United Kingdom, for example, researchers found that consumers discarded about 22% of food that they could have eaten due to confusion over date labeling.⁷⁵ Similarly, 84% of Americans report that they throw away food after the expiration date passes due to safety concerns, even if there is a minimal risk of foodborne illness at that time.⁷⁶

This cycle of confusion and waste occurs in Singapore under the current date labeling regime. A study conducted by Singapore Environment Council and Deloitte found that a major cause of food waste in Singaporean homes is a misunderstanding of expiration labels. The study found that more than 80% of consumers do not fully understand the difference between the three different labels (i.e., "use by," "best before," and "date of expiry") used on product packaging. These consumers cite this incomplete understanding as a contributing factor to food waste from unconsumed food."

In Singapore date labeling regulations are standardized under the Food Regulations, which state that all specified prepackaged foods must contain a label consisting of one of four acceptable terms as well as a day, month, and year signifying the expiry date. The "expiry date" is the "date after which the food . . . may not retain its normal wholesomeness, nature, substance, and quality. Acceptable expiry dates for prepackaged foods include: "use by," "expiry date," and "best before. If the prepackaged food is raw produce, the Food Regulations require that the date of packaging be stated as one of the following: "packing date," "packed on," or "PKD. The Food Regulations also state that "best before" has the same meaning as "use by," and no distinction is drawn between date labels that indicate quality and date labels that indicate safety concerns. While the specific requirements for labels are contained within the Food Regulations, the authorizing Sale of Food Act includes the direction to recall food items that are mislabeled or incorrectly identified. Thus, all prepacked foods identified in the regulation must include a date label, but there is no distinction between the meaning of the various date labels.

The Food Regulations prohibit selling food past the expiry date no matter which label is used.⁸⁴ In addition, under the Food Regulations it is forbidden to "import, sell, consign or deliver any prepacked food with an expired date mark."⁸⁵ Part III of the Food Regulations clarifies that the law applies to any food intended for human consumption, even if such food is offered as free gifts for charity.⁸⁶ Therefore, donation after the required label expiry date is not permitted.

Liability Protection for Food Donations

A significant barrier to food donation is the fear among donors that they will be found liable if someone becomes sick after consuming donated food. Unlike other countries, Singapore does not have any type of Good Samaritan law protecting food donors or food recovery organizations from civil or criminal liability resulting from food donation. As a result, donors could face civil or criminal consequences should donated food cause harm to the beneficiary. Civil liability could result from food-related injuries either under tort or contract law. However, this is incredibly unlikely, as Singapore has not had any such cases of civil liability.⁸⁷ Criminal liability would only result in rare cases of obvious harm where the donor did not act in good faith. Nonetheless, the lack of explicit liability protection is a perceived barrier to potential food donors.⁸⁸ Because of this, many individual food recovery organizations require donors to sign liability waivers in an attempt to compensate for the lack of protection.⁸⁹ Currently, a commission is looking into the possibility of providing liability protection for food donation in Singapore, led by Member of Parliament Louis Ng.⁹⁰

Civil Liability: Tort

At the time of this writing, there were no reported cases in which a plaintiff brought a civil claim against a donor or distributor for food received free of charge. The lack of civil cases is likely a result of delay and cost, among other potential barriers that may discourage potential litigants from bringing suits. Other factors that may dissuade litigation for food-related injuries resulting from food donation could include lack of access to the courthouse faced by recipients of food donations as well as community pressures not to jeopardize a source of donated food through legal action.

However, given that there is no formal immunity for food donation, it is still important to understand the requirements a plaintiff would have to meet in order for a court to find a donor or distributor liable so that donors can ensure they are limiting their potential liability.

The tort of negligence in Singapore is derived from English common law. It concerns the legal liability and consequences arising generally from negligent conduct. Negligence as a tort requires more than mere lack of care. A claimant that wishes to sue in negligence must show (1) that the defendant owed a duty of care to the claimant; (2) that there was a breach of this duty of care by the defendant, and (3) that the breach caused damage to the claimant, which should not be too remote. Singapore applies a two-stage framework to determine whether a duty of care exists between parties. This framework is based on proximity and policy considerations, with a threshold requirement of factual foreseeability.

It is likely that food donors or food recovery organizations owe a duty of care to their recipients. It is reasonably foreseeable that mishandling food could cause harm to the consumer of the food. Food donors or food recovery organizations would be expected to operate with a reasonable standard of care. ⁹⁴ If they are found to fall short of this standard of care, a court may find that they breached their duty. However, the plaintiff would still have to prove causation or show a sufficient nexus between the donor or distributor's action and the plaintiff 's injury.

Civil Liability: Contract

Contract law could also form a potential, though unlikely, basis for liability. Contract law would be relevant in cases where a consumer or intermediary pays for donated food. In Singapore, in order to establish product liability for a producer or distributor under a claim in contract law, the claimant must show that (1) a contract exists between the claimant and the defendant; (2) a term of the contract, express or implied, has been breached; and (3) the breach of the term caused damage to the claimant. Contract formation requires that there be an offer, acceptance, and "consideration," or the exchange of something of value. Thus, payment for the food is likely necessary for contract law to apply, otherwise there would be no consideration involved in the transaction. In the case of *sale* of surplus food, consumer protection laws may be applicable, as Singaporean consumers have additional legal protection against unfair business practices when purchasing goods with a dollar exchange. There will also be implied terms as to the quality and safety of the food sold.

Criminal Liability Under the Singapore Penal Code

Criminal law in Singapore is contained primarily within the Singapore Penal Code (Cap. 224).⁹⁸ If someone is harmed by consuming unsafe, donated food from a donor that knew the food would likely hurt the consumer or that intended to hurt the consumer, the donor may face criminal liability under the Singapore Penal Code for causing hurt or grievous hurt.⁹⁹ The extent of criminal liability largely depends on the nature and degree of hurt that results from the consumption of the unsafe, donated food.

Taxes

Reducing food loss and waste results in sizable economic benefits to society, as it minimizes the costs associated with producing and discarding food that is never consumed. Food donation also helps mitigate the costs of

hunger and stimulates the economy: food banks and intermediaries provide jobs or sponsor community development, while recipients of donated food are able to spend limited financial resources on other basic goods and services.

But food donation can also be expensive, as food donors must allocate time and money to glean, package, store, and transport surplus food that otherwise would be discarded at no cost. As a result, it is often easier and less expensive for farmers, businesses, and private individuals to throw away food rather than donate it. Some countries are addressing this issue by offering tax incentives and removing financial barriers to food donation.

Incentives

Tax incentives can significantly support food donation and help reduce food loss and waste. For example, corporate donors may be more likely to donate surplus food if they receive a charitable deduction or credit to offset the cost of transportation and logistics. These tax incentives could help reduce the costs of donation.

Singapore does not provide a tax incentive specific to food donation. However, Singapore does offer an income tax deduction for making a *monetary* donation to registered nonprofit organizations known as institutions of a public character (IPCs). Under Singapore's Income Tax Act, cash donations and specific in-kind donations (such as computers, land or buildings, and National Heritage Board certified art or artifacts)¹⁰⁰ are generously incentivized with a 250% tax deduction for qualifying donations to IPCs.¹⁰¹ For example, if a donor made a S\$100 donation to a food bank, they could reduce their taxable income by S\$250. The maximum amount of cash donation that can be deducted by a qualifying donor each year is S\$250,000.¹⁰² According to the Inland Revenue Authority of Singapore (IRAS), when tax deductions for charitable donations exceed the donor's income for the year, the qualifying donor (i.e., an individual, a company, a trust, a body of persons) can carry forward the unused deductions for a maximum of five years.¹⁰³ The 250% tax deduction for qualifying donations is set to expire December 31, 2023.¹⁰⁴

However, this tax deduction does not apply to in-kind food donations. Thus, while the tax incentive landscape may encourage entities to donate cash to charities like food banks, it does not monetarily incentivize in-kind food donations.

Additionally, registered charities or IPCs receive automatic tax exemptions under section 13(1)(zm) of the Income Tax Act and therefore do not need to file income tax returns.¹⁰⁶

Barriers

While certain tax schemes may encourage food donations, they may also be potential deterrents. In many countries a value-added tax (VAT), in particular, presents a financial barrier to donating food. In Singapore this tax is called the Goods and Services Tax (GST).

The Singaporean GST is a national tax on both goods and services. It is levied on goods at every stage of the supply chain, from the production to the point of sale, whenever goods are transferred to another individual or entity. Of Singapore's GST system features an output tax and an input tax. The output tax is the GST charged on a business's supplies; this tax must be paid to IRAS. The input tax is the GST that businesses incur on business purchases and expenses (including import of goods). Businesses can claim input tax credits against the output tax for the amount of the GST incurred on their purchases and expenses, thereby offsetting the output GSTs that the taxpayer is charged for its taxable activities.

Many countries adjust VAT tax rates to accomplish policy objectives; for example, countries may apply reduced VAT rates to basic essentials, such as pharmaceuticals, healthcare services, and education. In Singapore, this can take the form of either exempting certain supplies from its GST or classifying certain supplies as "zero-rated" such that a 0% rate is applied to these supplies. ¹⁰⁹ For all other goods and services, the GST rate

in Singapore is 7%, including for basic essentials such as food and health care.¹¹⁰ All companies in Singapore, including charities, are required to register for the GST if their annual taxable supplies exceed S\$1 million.¹¹¹

In-kind food donations incur input GST upon initial purchase by the donor. Businesses are, however, able to claim the input credit regardless of whether the food is sold, donated, or discarded.¹¹² Thus, Singapore's GST scheme does not appear to act as a barrier to donation, because donors are not responsible for paying the full cost of the input GST for the donated food.

Donation Requirements or Food Waste Penalties

Some countries have created food donation requirements or impose monetary penalties for food that is sent to the landfill (often known as organic waste bans or waste taxes) to influence business behavior and promote sustainable food systems. While Singapore does not have an explicit ban on organic waste, the Singapore government recently passed legislation that requires certain organizations to build infrastructure to treat waste on-site to minimize the downstream effects of improper organic waste disposal.¹¹³

The Resource Sustainability Act (RSA), enacted in 2019 and administered and enforced by NEA, imposes obligations relating to the collection and treatment of electronic waste and food waste, requires reporting of packaging imported into or used in Singapore, regulates persons operating producer responsibility schemes, and promotes resource sustainability.¹¹⁴ The purpose of the RSA is (1) to implement a framework where persons who profit from the supply of products bear the cost of collecting and treating those products when they become waste; (2) to encourage producers of packaging to reduce, reuse, or recycle packaging; and (3) to enable proper segregation and treatment of food waste.¹¹⁵ According to the RSA, the building manager of "any prescribed building other than a new building" must either (1) ensure that food waste is treated in the building or within the premises or (2) engage a licensed waste collector to send the food waste for treatment at a licensed waste disposal facility.¹¹⁶ A building manager that fails to do so will be guilty of an offence and face serious penalties of a fine not exceeding S\$10,000, imprisonment for a term not exceeding three months, or both. In the case of a continuing offence, a further fine of S\$1,000 for every day or part of a day during which the offence continues after conviction is applied. 117 The Ministry of Environment and Water Resources (MEWR) and NEA will be jointly working with large public-sector building owners with food and beverage outlets to implement food waste segregation for treatment under the Public Sector Taking the Lead in Environmental Sustainability initiative in 2021.118 The RSA aims to significantly reduce the amount of food and organic waste that is destined for landfills by mandating proper separation and treatment. Notably, however, the RSA does not mention food donation as a potential avenue for proper handling of food surpluses.

Government Grants and Incentives

Grants and incentive programs funded at the national or local level offer another important resource for food donation initiatives. This is particularly true in countries where donors consider tax incentives insufficient to offset the costs of donation or where a lack of infrastructure limits food recovery efforts. For example, government grants can help food donors and food recovery organizations acquire equipment and resources necessary for recovering, storing, processing, and transporting food for donation. Government funding can also support new innovations and emerging technologies that will make food donation more efficient and sustainable.

To date, Singapore does not offer any national grants for food donation, specifically. However, the government does offer grants around mitigating food loss and waste, as discussed in previous sections. NEA offers the 3R Fund40 to facilitate proper food waste processing and decomposition and the Food Waste Fund to fund food waste treatment solutions for Singaporean companies. Currently, grants promoted by SFA's "Food Story R&D Grant Call" include research and development around food security, sustainable urban farming and food production, and alternative proteins. Thus, it is certainly in the purview of SFA or NEA to monetarily

incentivize food donation as a means of mitigating food waste and simultaneously reducing hunger and food insecurity. As such, a food donation national grant or incentive may be implemented in the future.

CONCLUSION ____

This Legal Guide is intended to identify Singapore's current laws, policies, and programs that relate to food waste or food donation. While the government is primarily responsible for guaranteeing food security and sustainable food systems, food recovery organizations acting in a private capacity can provide an additional social safety net that reaches the most remote and food-insecure communities. The Singapore government has enacted a robust campaign around mitigating food waste including the recent RSA. However, there are opportunities to bolster this campaign with legislation that minimizes food donation deterrents and provides adequate donation incentives, such as the upcoming Good Samaritan Law and enhanced tax deductions.

This Legal Guide provides a starting point from which policymakers, private-sector actors, and civil society may better understand the current laws and policies relevant to food donation. It also offers a foundation for dialogue about food loss and waste prevention and the value of food recovery to Singapore's food security, economic stability, and environmental sustainability. A separate document produced under The Global Food Donation Policy Atlas sets forth policy recommendations specific to Singapore to contribute to this discussion. In the meantime, food donors and food recovery organizations should take into account the laws, policies, and legal issues discussed in this Legal Guide when donating food or facilitating the distribution of donated food to those in need. To better understand the regulation of food donation in Singapore, donors, intermediaries, and policymakers should investigate the laws identified in this Legal Guide and seek additional legal counsel, if necessary.

ENDNOTES

- FOOD & AGRIC. ORG. OF THE U.N., GLOBAL FOOD LOSSES AND FOOD WASTE—EXTENT, CAUSES, AND PREVENTION 4 (2011).
- 2 Id
- 3 HARVARD LAW SCHOOL FOOD LAW AND POLICY CLINIC, KEEPING FOOD OUT OF THE LANDFILL: POLICY IDEAS FOR STATES AND LOCALITIES 1 (2016).
- FOOD & AGRIC. ORG. OF THE U.N., FOOD WASTAGE FOOTPRINT: IMPACTS ON NATURAL RESOURCES 6 (2011).
- 5 Id
- FOOD & AGRIC. ORG. OF THE U.N., FOOD WASTAGE FOOTPRINT & CLIMATE CHANGE 1 (2015), http://www.fao.org/3/a-bb144e.pdf.
- ⁷ Id
- FOOD & AGRIC. ORG. OF THE U.N., ET AL., THE STATE OF FOOD SECURITY AND NUTRITION IN THE WORLD: SAFEGUARDING AGAINST ECONOMIC SLOWDOWNS AND DOWNTURNS 6 (2019), http://www.fao.org/3/ca5162en/ca5162en.pdf.
- G.A. Res. 70/1 at 22. "By 2030, halve per capita global food waste at the retail and consumer levels and reduce food losses along production and supply chains, including post-harvest losses."
- The Global Food Donation Policy Atlas project would not be possible without the support of the Walmart Foundation. The Walmart Foundation is not responsible for the content of this document or the views contained herein. The content of this document should not be interpreted as legal advice; those seeking legal advice should speak to an attorney licensed to practice in the applicable jurisdiction and area of law.
- 11 Food Waste Management, NATIONAL ENVIRONMENT AGENCY, https://www.nea.gov.sg/our-services/waste-management/3r-programmes-and-resources/food-waste-management.
- 12 FLPC would like to express its gratitude to Food Bank Singapore as well as to many other businesses and government agencies that shared input with the FLPC team
- THE ECONOMIST, GLOBAL FOOD SECURITY INDEX 2019 30 (2019).
- 14 IC
- 15 The Food We Eat, SINGAPORE FOOD AGENCY, https://www.sfa.gov.sg/food-farming/singapore-food-supply/the-food-we-eat.
- ¹⁶ Farming in Singapore, SINGAPORE FOOD AGENCY, https://www.sfa.gov.sg/food-farming/food-farms/farming-in-singapore.
- ¹⁷ Tortajada & Paramasilvam, Singapore's Impressive Food Security: How has Singapore become the second-most food secure country in the world, THE DIPLOMAT (Sept. 6, 2015).
- Levelling Up Singapore's Food Supply Resilience, SINGAPORE FOOD AGENCY (Apr. 14, 2020), https://www.sfa.gov.sg/food-for-thought/article/detail/levelling-up-singapore-s-food-supply-resilience.
- 19 Id
- Vanessa Liu, No Risk of Singapore Running Out of Essential Food Items, THE STRAITS TIMES (Feb. 10, 2020), https://www.straitstimes.com/singapore/no-risk-of-singapore-running-short-of-essential-food-and-household-items-masagos.
- New Logo to Help Consumers Identify Local Produce, SINGAPORE FOOD AGENCY (Apr. 14, 2020), https://www.sfa.gov.sg/food-for-thought/article/detail/new-logo-to-help-consumers-identify-local-produce.
- ²² Determinants of food expenditure, OUR WORLD IN DATA, https://ourworldindata.org/food-prices (last visited Apr. 15, 2020).
- ²³ Id.
- See Goh Yan Han, 10% of Singaporeans Struggle to Get Sufficient, Safe, Nutritious Food, THE STRAITS TIMES (Sept. 17, 2020), https://www.singapore/10-of-singaporeans-struggle-to-get-sufficient-safe-nutritious-food-study; see also Key Household Income Trends, 2019, DEPT. OF STATISTICS SINGAPORE, https://www.singstat.gov.sg/-/media/files/publications/households/pp-s26.pdf.
- ²⁵ Jain-Chandra et al., Sharing the Growth Dividend: Analysis of Inequality in Asia, INTERNATIONAL MONETARY FUND, 2016.
- 26 ComCare Assistance, MINISTRY OF SOCIAL & FAMILY DEVELOPMENT, https://www.msf.gov.sg/Comcare.
- 27 Programmes and Resources, NAT'L ENV'T AGENCY, https://www.nea.gov.sg/our-services/waste-management/3r-programmes-and-resources/food-waste-management.
- Food Waste, Towards Zero Waste, https://www.towardszerowaste.gov.sg/foodwaste.
- ²⁹ *Id.*
- Singapore Environment Council (SEC) & Deloitte, Advancing a Circular Economy for Food: Key Drivers and Recommendations to Reduce Food Loss and Waste in Singapore, SINGAPORE ENVIRONMENT COUNCIL (August 2019), https://sec.org.sg/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/SEC_Food-Loss-Study.pdf.
- 31 Id.
- 32 *Id.*
- ³³ Id.
- ³⁴ Zero Waste Masterplan, Towards Zero Waste, https://www.towardszerowaste.gov.sg/zero-waste-masterplan/foreword.
- Resource Sustainability Act 2019, Act 29 of 2019 (Singapore).
- ³⁶ Constitution of the Republic of Singapore, Art. 14(1).
- ³⁷ Constitution of the Republic of Singapore, 1999.
- ³⁸ Id.
- 39 Id.
- ⁴⁰ Id.
- Legislation, or statutes, may also have been enacted by other bodies such as the British Parliament, Governor-General of India in Council, and Legislative Council of the Straits Settlements, which have had power to pass laws in Singapore in the past.
- Parliamentary Elections Act, Cap. 218, 2007 (Singapore).
- Sale of Food Act (Cap 283, 1973) (Singapore).
- ⁴⁴ Id.
- 45 Id. Part I 2F.
- ⁴⁶ *Id.* Part VII, 56(ec).
- 1d. Part IIA, 10K.
- Id. at Part IIA. 10A. Persons to whom directions may be given.
- 49 *Id.* § 2B(1).
- ⁵⁰ *Id.* § 2E 3(b).
- ⁵¹ Food Regulations Part III 14(1).
- ⁵² Food Regulations Part III. 15-35.
- Singapore Food Agency Act, Act 11 of 2019 (Singapore).
- ⁵⁴ *Id.* Part II 5(1).
- 55 Id.
- 56 *Id*.
- 57 *Id.* Part II 5(1)(I).

```
58
     Id. Part II 5(1)(m).
59
     Id. Part II 5(1)(n).
60
     Id. Part II 5(1)(p).
61
     Penal Code, Cap 224, 2008 (Singapore).
62
     Consumer Protection Fair Trading Act, Cap 52A (Singapore).
     Income Tax Act, Cap 134, Ordinance 39 of 1947 (Singapore).
     Sale of Food Act, Cap 283, § 56(1) (Singapore).
     Id. § 2E(1)(n).
66
     Id. § 2E(1)(o).
     Id. § 2E(1)(a).
68
     Id. § 2B(1).
     Guidelines on Food Donation, NATIONAL ENVIRONMENT AGENCY (Oct. 24, 2016), https://www.nea.gov.sg/docs/default-source/our-services/guidelines-on-food-
     donation-.pdf.
70
     Id.
71
     Id.
72
     Id.
73
     ld.
74
     HARVARD LAW SCHOOL FOOD LAW AND POLICY CLINIC AND NATURAL RESOURCES DEFENSE COUNCIL, DON'T WASTE, DONATE: ENHANCING FOOD DONATIONS THROUGH
     FEDERAL POLICY 19 (2017) [hereinafter Don't Waste, Donate].
     US GAO, DATE LABELS ON PACKAGED FOODS: USDA AND FDA COULD TAKE ADDITIONAL STEPS TO REDUCE CONSUMER CONFUSION, GAO-19-407 (SEPT. 2019), https://
     www.gao.gov/assets/710/701238.pdf.
76
     DON'T WASTE, DONATE, supra note 74 at 19.
77
     SINGAPORE ENVIRONMENT COUNCIL (SEC) AND DELOITTE, ADVANCING A CIRCULAR ECONOMY FOR FOOD: KEY DRIVERS AND RECOMMENDATIONS TO REDUCE FOOD LOSS AND
     WASTE IN SINGAPORE (2019), https://sec.org.sg/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/SEC Food-Loss-Study.pdf.
78
     Food Regulations § 10(2).
79
     Id. § 1.
80
     Id. § 10(2).
81
     Id. § 10(5).
82
     Id. § 10(10).
83
     Sale of Food Act, Cap 283, 1973, § 10F(2)(d).
     Food Regulations § 10A(b) & 10(2). See also, Understanding Food Nutrition Labels, SINGAPORE FOOD AGENCY, https://www.sfa.gov.sg/food-information/labelling-
     packaging-information/understanding-food-nutrition-labels.
     Food Regulations § 10A(b).
86
     Id. § 13(3).
87
     Interviews with stakeholders. Notes on file with author.
88
     Interviews with stakeholders. Notes on file with author.
     Interviews with stakeholders. Notes on file with author.
     Audrev Tan. MP Louis Nq to table law to allay concerns over food donations, THE STRAITS TIMES (Sept. 15, 2020), https://www.straitstimes.com/singapore/
90
     environment/mp-louis-ng-to-table-law-to-allay-concerns-over-food-donations.
91
     GARY CHAN KOK YEW, THE LAW OF TORTS IN SINGAPORE (2016).
92
93
     ld.
94
     The Law of Negligence: Section 4 Breach of Duty. 20.4.1, SINGAPORE LAW WATCH, https://www.singaporelawwatch.sg/About-Singapore-Law/Commercial-Law/ch-
     20-the-law-of-negligence.
     Lim Chong Kin & Benjamin Gaw, Product liability and safety in Singapore: overview, THOMAS REUTERS, https://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/w-013-0001.
     Consumer Protection (Fair Trading) Act, Cap 52A, Act 27 of 2003 (Singapore).
97
     Sale of Goods Act, 1999 § 14 (Singapore).
     Penal Code, Cap 224, 2008 (Singapore).
99
     Id. § 319 - 323, 325.
     Donations and Tax Deductions, INLAND REVENUE AUTHORITY OF SINGAPORE, https://www.iras.gov.sg/irashome/Other-Taxes/Charities/Donations-and-Tax-
     Deductions (last visited Mar. 25, 2021) [hereinafter Donations and Tax Deductions].
     Charities Act, Cap 37, Act 22 of 1994 (Singapore); Income Tax Act, Cap 134, 1947, 14ZB(1)(A) (Singapore).
102
     Income Tax Act, Cap 134, Ordinance 39 of 1947, Part V. Deductions Against Income. 14ZB(3) (Singapore).
103
     Donations and Tax Deductions, supra note 100.
104
105
     Tax Deduction for Donations, MINISTRY OF FINANCE SINGAPORE, https://www.mof.gov.sg/policies/taxes/personal-income-tax (last visited Mar. 25, 2021).
106
     Income Tax Act, Cap 134, Ordinance 39 of 1947 (Singapore).
107
     Goods and Services Tax Act, Cap 117A, Act 31 of 1993 (Singapore).
108
     Goods and Services Tax Act, Cap 117A, Act 31 of 1993 (Singapore).
109
     Id.
110
     Id.
111
     Id.
112
113
     Resource Sustainability Act, Act 29 of 2019 (Singapore).
114
     Id.
115
     Id. § 3(a)-(c).
116
     Id. § 27(2)(a)-(b).
117
     Id. § 27(3)(a)-(b).
     Nat'l Env't Agency, Food Waste Segregation For Treatment By Large commercial & Industrial Food Waste Generators To Be Mandatory From 2024 (May 7,
     2019), https://www.nea.gov.sg/media/news/news/index/food-waste-segregation-for-treatment-by-large-commercial-industrial-food-waste-generators-to-be-
     mandatory-from-2024.
119
     Singapore Food & Farming: Food Story Grant Call, SINGAPORE FOOD AGENCY, https://www.sfa.gov.sg/food-farming/singapore-food-story/singapore-food-story-r-d-
     grant-call (last visited Mar. 25, 2021).
```

© APRIL 2021



